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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 
[1] MARTHA DONELSON and [2] JOHN  ) 
FRIEND, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES ) 
AND ON BEHALF OF ALL SIMILARLY ) 
SITUATED PERSONS,    ) 
       ) 
   Plaintiffs,   ) 
       ) Case No. 14-CV-316-JHP-FHM 
vs.       ) 
       ) 
[1] UNITED STATES OF AMERICA;  ) 
DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR; BUREAU  ) 
OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; [2] DEVON ENERGY  ) 
PRODUCTION COMPANY, L.P., et al.  ) 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ RESPONSE TO FEDERAL DEFENDANTS’ MOTION  
TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT [DKT 148]  

 
 Plaintiffs, by and through their attorneys, Drummond Law. PLLC, submit the following 

Response to Federal Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint [Dkt. 

No. 148] (“Federal Defendants”) and to Defendant Encana Oil and Gas (USA), Inc. who has 

adopted the Federal Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss [Dkt. No. 152]. 

INTRODUCTION 

 This lawsuit arises out of the Bureau of Indian Affair’s (“BIA’s”) violation of the 

National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., with respect to 

oil and gas leasing and drilling in Osage County. The Osage Agency of the BIA manages the 

Osage Mineral Estate which is held in trust for the Osage Nation of Oklahoma (“Osage Nation”).  

All proposed concession agreements, oil and gas leases and Applications for Drilling Permits 

(“APDs”) are subject to approval by the Superintendent of the Osage Agency.  The 

Superintendent is charged with compliance with NEPA prior to approval of leases and APDs.  In 

order to comply with NEPA, the Superintendent must take a “hard look” at the environmental 
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impacts of proposed activity prior to approving leases and APDs by preparing either: (1) an 

environmental impact statement (“EIS”), or (2) an environmental assessment (“EA”) with a 

finding of no significant impact (“FONSI”).  

 In complete disregard for NEPA, the Superintendent has routinely failed to require an 

EIS, EA or any semblance of an environmental study prior to approving concession agreements, 

leases and APDs.  After this lawsuit was filed, the current Superintendent of the Osage Agency, 

in a letter to all oil and gas operators in Osage County, declared that operators would have to 

submit an EA with all APDs beginning August 12, 2014.  This letter represents the 

Superintendent’s belated effort to comply with a federal law that has been in existence since 

January 1, 1970.  However, the Superintendent’s decision to prospectively comply with NEPA 

does not cure the thousands of violations of NEPA that have occurred under the BIA’s watch 

prior to August 12, 2014.  The Superintendent’s wholesale failure to take a “hard look” at the 

environment impacts of drilling in Osage County has resulted in environmentally hazardous 

conditions at a myriad of well sites across the entire county. 

 In furtherance of its continuing efforts to evade compliance with NEPA, the Federal 

Defendants have moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint on two grounds:  (1) 

Plaintiffs’ claims are an impermissible programmatic challenge; and (2) the federal statute of 

limitations bars any challenges to federal approvals prior to August 11, 2008.  Both of these 

arguments are without merit.   

 First, the Federal Defendants are purposely mischaracterizing Plaintiffs’ claims in order 

to fit their argument for dismissal.  Plaintiffs do not specifically challenge the oil and gas leasing 

program as a whole.  Plaintiffs challenge the discrete, individual approvals made by the 

Superintendent in violation of NEPA.  Each approval by the Superintendent of a concession 
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agreement, lease or APD is a final agency action subject to judicial review under the 

Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 704.    

 Second, the federal statute of limitations does not bar the claims concerning approvals 

prior to August 11, 2008 because Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Putative Class Members are entitled 

to equitable tolling due to the Superintendent’s failure to provide notice of the leases and drilling 

permits to the Plaintiffs and the Putative Plaintiff Class Members.  While the Federal Defendants 

argue that the Plaintiffs were required to investigate leasing or permitting violations, the 

Superintendent’s wholesale failure to notify Plaintiffs that it was relying upon the 1979 

Environmental Assessment for each approval misled the Plaintiffs into reasonably believing that 

Superintendent had complied with NEPA prior to approving the concession agreements, leases 

and APDs.  Moreover, assuming arguendo that the statute of limitations applies to claims against 

the Federal Defendants for approvals prior to August 11, 2008, Plaintiffs still have claims for 

continuing torts based upon invalid approvals made prior to that date. 

 Accordingly, Plaintiffs request that this Court deny the Federal Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss, and order the Federal Defendants to answer the First Amended Complaint within ten 

(10) days of the Court’s Order overruling the Motion to Dismiss. 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

1. THE COURT HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF NEPA  
  CLAIMS AGAINST FEDERAL DEFENDANTS. 

 
 Federal Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint must be dismissed 

because it contains a broad programmatic challenge, as opposed to challenges to discrete final 

agency actions.  Federal Defendants’ argument is premised upon a mischaracterization of the 

First Amended Complaint.  Contrary to Federal Defendants’ characterization of the First 

Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs challenge the discrete individual approvals by the Superintendent 
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of the concession agreements, leases and APDs.  Once the class is certified, the Putative Class 

Members will likewise challenge the discrete individual approvals made by the Superintendent in 

violation of NEPA.  These individual approvals are the discrete final agency actions that are 

subject to judicial review. Utah Environmental Congress v. Dale Bosworth, 443 F.3d 732, 739 

(10th Cir. 2006); Utah Envtl. Cong. V. Bosworth, 372 F.3d 1219, 1223 n. 3 (10th Cir. 2004); and 

Colo. Farm Bureau Fed’n v. U.S. Forest Serv., 220 F.3d 1171, 1173 (10th Cir. 2000).  

 Federal Defendants’ reliance upon Lujan v. Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871 (1990) is 

misplaced.  In Lujan, the plaintiffs did not challenge specific final agency actions as the 

Plaintiffs herein do.  The plaintiffs in Lujan challenged a program that did not consist of a 

specific order or regulation.  Here, Plaintiffs challenge the approval of concession agreements, 

leases and APDs, which are final agency actions. 

 Anticipating that Plaintiffs would correctly point out to the Court that they are 

challenging the individual discrete approvals by the Superintendent, the Federal Defendants 

argue that there is no reasonable administrative record that the Bureau of Indian of Affairs could 

compile to address the multitude of challenged approvals.  To the contrary, the fact that the 

Osage Agency of the BIA has allegedly relied upon the 1979 EA to justify its approvals of the 

concession agreements, leases and APD makes it logistically simple to adjudicate this case as a 

class action.  The BIA’s position means that there were no individual environmental assessments 

or environmental impact statements prepared for the individual approvals.1  Therefore, the 

parties can stipulate that the administrative record for the approvals will not contain individual 

                                                           
1 In fact, the recently released report, Office of Inspector General, BIA Needs Sweeping Changes 
To Manage The Osage Nation’s Energy Resources (Report No.: CR-EV-BIA-0002-2013, 
October 2014), pp. 14-15, attached as Exhibit 1 to Dkt. 163, confirms that the BIA has not 
conducted any site-specific environmental assessments and has relied exclusively upon the 1979 
EA. 
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site-specific environment analysis save and except the 1979 EA.  The Court can then decide 

whether the absence of individual site-specific EAs renders the approvals by the Superintendent 

arbitrary and capricious.  Accordingly, the Federal Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss on the 

grounds that the Plaintiffs are challenging the oil and gas leasing “program” should be denied. 

 II. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT BAR PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS. 

 The Federal Defendants argue that claims concerning approvals that occurred prior to 

August 11, 2008 are barred by the federal statute of limitations. Plaintiffs disagree.  The 

Plaintiffs and Putative Plaintiff Class Members are entitled to equitable tolling of the statute of 

limitations based upon the BIA’s failure to notify the surface owners of issuance of the 

concession agreements, leases or drilling permits.  Moreover, the federal statute of limitations 

does not prevent this Court from ruling upon the validity of the federal actions prior to August 

11, 2008, as it relates to the state law claims against the non-Federal Defendants. 

  A. Claims Prior to August 11, 2008 Are Subject to Equitable Tolling. 
 
 The federal statute of limitations does not bar Plaintiffs’ claims concerning approvals 

prior to August 11, 2008 because Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Putative Class Members are entitled 

to equitable tolling. The Superintendent failed to provide notice of the concession agreements, 

leases and drilling permits to the Plaintiffs and the Putative Plaintiff Class Members.  See 

Affidavit of Martha Donelson, ¶¶ 4-5 attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and Affidavit of John Friend, ¶ 

5 attached hereto as Exhibit 2. While the Federal Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs were 

required to investigate leasing or permitting violations, the Superintendent’s wholesale failure to 

notify Plaintiffs that it was relying upon the 1979 Environmental Assessment for each approvals 

misled the Plaintiffs into reasonably believing that Superintendent had complied with NEPA 

prior to approving the concession agreements, leases and APDs. 
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 The United States Supreme Court has ruled that equitable tolling is available against the 

federal government.  Irwin v. Department of Veteran Affairs, 498 U.S. 89, 95-96 (1990). In order 

to obtain equitable tolling, the Plaintiffs must establish: (1) that they have been pursuing their 

rights diligently; and (2) some extraordinary circumstance stood in their way.  Pace v. 

DiGuglielmo, 544 U.S. 408, 418, 125 S. Ct. 1807, 161 L.Ed.2d 669 (2005). Moreover, the Tenth 

Circuit has detailed the elements necessary to obtain equitable estoppel against the federal 

government: 

(1) the party to be estopped must know the facts; (2) he must intend that his 
conduct will be acted upon or must so act that the party asserting the estoppel has 
the right to believe that it was so intended; (3) the latter must be ignorant of the 
true facts; and (4) he must rely on the former’s conduct to his injury. 

 
Lurch v. United States, 719 F.2d 333, 341 (10th Cir. 1983).  

 Here, the BIA has failed to notify Plaintiffs that any concession agreements, leases or 

drilling permits have been issued affecting their property.  Exh. 1, ¶¶ 4-5 and Exh. 2, ¶ 4. While 

the presence of the drilling activity may arguably create an inference of knowledge of the leases 

or drilling permits, the BIA’s violation of NEPA’s public involvement requirements misled 

Plaintiffs into assuming that the BIA had complied with all federal laws in granting the 

challenged approvals.   

 CEQ’s NEPA regulations provide that “public scrutiny [is] essential to implementing 

NEPA.” 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b).  The DOI’s NEPA regulations specifically require that the BIA 

“must notify the public of the availability of an environmental assessment and any associated 

finding of no significant impact once they have been completed.” 43 C.F.R. § 46.305(c). The 

agency must make “a meaningful effort to provide information to the public affected by an 

agency’s actions.” Klein, 747 F. Supp. 2d at 1262); Bering Strait Citizens for Responsible Res. 

Dev. v. COE, 524 F.3d 938, 953 (9th Cir. 2008)(recognizing that “[a]n agency, when preparing 
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an EA, must provide the public with sufficient environmental information, considered in the 

totality of circumstances, to permit members of the public to weigh in with their views and thus 

inform the agency decision-making process.”). Here, the BIA did not make any effort to inform 

the Plaintiffs of the potential environmental impacts of its proposed actions. Exh. 1, ¶¶ 7-8 and 

Exh. 2, ¶ 5.  At a minimum, DOI’s NEPA regulations require that BIA notify the public that it 

has prepared an EA and FONSI and make those documents available to the public for review.   

 Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to equitable tolling of claims concerning approvals 

prior to August 11, 2008, which violated NEPA.  The Federal Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss on 

these grounds should be denied. 

  B. Court Must Rule Upon Validity of Approvals Prior to August 11,  
   2008, As Those Approvals Relate To State Law Claims Against Non- 
   Federal Defendants. 
 
 Assuming arguendo that the statute of limitations applies to claims against the Federal 

Defendants for approvals prior to August 11, 2008, Plaintiffs still have claims for continuing 

torts based upon invalid approvals made prior to that date. In order to properly analyze this issue, 

it is important to keep separate the claims against the Federal Defendants and non-Federal 

Defendants.  While it is presumed that the Federal Defendants’ argument applies specifically to 

the claims against the Federal Defendants, it must be clear that any favorable ruling for the 

Federal Defendants on the limitations issue only restricts the remedies available to the Plaintiffs 

as against the Federal Defendants.  The limitations period raised by the Federal Defendants does 

not impact Plaintiffs’ claims against the non-Federal Defendants, which will permit the Court to 

make declarations concerning approvals prior to the August 11, 2008.  In other words, even if the 

Federal Defendants are correct on the limitation issue and the Court cannot set aside those 

approvals prior to August 11, 2008, Plaintiffs may still obtain a declaration that approvals prior 
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to August 11, 2008 are invalid as that declaration relates to Plaintiffs’ state law claims for 

continuing tortious activity such as trespass and nuisance.   

 A recent Federal Circuit case is directly on point.  In The Shoshone Indian Tribe of the 

Wind River Reservation, Wyoming v. United States, 672 F.3d 1021 (Fed. Cir. 2012), two Indian 

tribes on the Wind River Reservation in Wyoming sued the federal government in 1979 in 

separate lawsuits in the Court of Federal Claims claiming the government unlawfully converted 

oil and gas leases on the reservation in 1949 and 1957 from one type to another without 

advertising the leases for competitive bidding. Id. at 1025-27. The Tribe also sought damages for 

trespass on the grounds that the unlawful conversion of the leases rendered them void ab initio. 

Id. at 1028. The court consolidated the cases and divided them into phases. Id. at 1027. In the oil 

and gas phase of the lawsuit, the Court of Federal Claims granted the government’s motion for 

judgment on the pleadings on the grounds that a claim based upon the failure to collect royalties 

was barred by the applicable statute of limitations. Id. at 1028-29. The court further rejected the 

tribes’ argument finding that even if their claim were barred they could still bring suit for 

continuing trespass within the limitations period.  Id. at 1029. The tribes appealed to the United 

States Federal Circuit Court of Appeal.  Id. 

 The Federal Circuit affirmed the lower court’s ruling with regard to the statute of 

limitations as it related to the government’s failure to collect royalties, but reversed the lower 

court as it related to the continuing trespass claim. Id. at 1037.  The court held that the failure to 

competitively bid the leases rendered the leases void. Id. at 1037-38. Therefore, the tribes had 

stated a claim for continuing trespass that occurred within the six-year statute of limitations.  Id. 

at 1041. 
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 Analogously, even though the statute of limitations with respect to setting aside the 

approvals under the APA may have expired, Plaintiffs have asserted state law claims premised 

upon unlawful activity that occurred beyond the limitations period.  Accordingly, this Court may 

still examine and make a declaration as to the validity of the approvals prior to August 11, 2008, 

even if the Plaintiffs and Putative Plaintiff Class Members cannot obtain relief from the Federal 

Defendants for those invalid approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court deny the Motion 

to Dismiss filed by the Federal Defendants and order the Federal Defendants to answer within 

ten (10) days of the Court’s Order.  Plaintiffs further request that if this Court finds any merit in 

the arguments raised by the Movants in their Motion to Dismiss, that this Court grant Plaintiffs 

leave in which to file a Second Amended Complaint in order to remedy the alleged deficiencies 

in the First Amended Complaint. 

       Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/Donald A. Lepp__________________ 
Gentner F. Drummond, OBA #16645 

 Garry M. Gaskins, OBA #20212 
J. Randall Miller, OBA #6214 
Donald A. Lepp, OBA #16260 
Drummond Law, PLLC 
1500 South Utica, Suite 400 
Tulsa, OK  74104-6522 
(918) 749-7378 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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